STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Berkeley County

RECEIVED

Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

JUL 06 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JOHN ARTHUR THOMAS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-000720

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOHN H. STROM  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court reversibly erred by refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser-included offenses of (A) assault and battery in the second degree, and (B) assault and battery in the third degree where the trial court erroneously concluded that the use of anesthesia to treat Melton's injuries and the infliction of a puncture wound precluded a jury charge on the lesser-included offenses.
  
- II. The trial court reversibly erred by refusing to instruct the jury on (A) the defense of accident and (B) the law of citizen's arrest where there was evidence presented at trial that Melton was unintentionally stabbed when Appellant approached him with the intention of making a citizen's arrest if Melton did not return electronic equipment that Appellant had probable cause to believe he had stolen from Appellant's vehicle and where the court instructed the jury on the law of self-defense.
  
- III. The trial court reversibly erred by refusing to issue a curative instruction where the trial court's PowerPoint slides, which were presented contemporaneously with the court's jury instructions, included an improper charge on inferred malice in violation of our Supreme Court's decision in *State v. Belcher*<sup>1</sup>.

---

<sup>1</sup> 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 11, 2014, the Berkeley County Grand Jury indicted Appellant John Arthur Thomas for attempted murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 301.

On February 17-19, 2015, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Kristy L. Harrington and a jury. Chad D. Shelton and Cody J. Groeber represented Appellant. Assistant Solicitors Daniel B. Poulos and Michael Patterson represented the State.

The jury found Appellant not guilty of attempted murder, but guilty of the lesser-included offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN). R. 256, 1. 17 - 257, 1. 2.

Following a sentencing hearing on March 23, 2015, the trial court sentenced Appellant to ten years imprisonment, suspended upon the service of four years of incarceration and three years of probation. R. 299. 51, 1. 20 - 300, 1. 6.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### **Relevant Facts**

On November 4, 2013 at around 8:00 p.m. John Thomas stopped at The Monkey Business Bar and Grill located in Cross, a small, rural town on the western edge of Lake Moultrie in Berkeley County. R. 130, l. 4 - 132, l. 12. Thomas' friend and roommate Misty Watts rode with him to the restaurant. *Id.*

Thomas sat at the bar and ordered food. While Thomas was eating, Kenneth Melton, an acquaintance of Watts and Thomas, arrived with Eric Singletary, whom Appellant did not know. *Id.* The two began drinking. *Id.* Melton and Thomas had formerly been friends. R. 111, l. 20 - 113, l. 20.

Thomas had distanced himself from Melton, a convicted felon, following a series of confrontations, including an incident when Melton had appeared unannounced at Thomas' house with a rifle and demanded to hunt the surrounding woods. R. 157, ll. 1-25. Another incident involved Thomas intervening when a man threatened Melton with a chainsaw after the latter initiated an altercation. R. 31, ll. 3-16; R. 77, ll. 8-20; R. 121, ll. 12-25.

Since the deterioration of their friendship, Melton had threatened Thomas with violence on several occasions. R. 113, l. 20 - 128, l. 10. As Thomas ate, Watts talked with Melton in the back corner of the restaurant by the juke box. R. 130, l. 8 - 132, l. 24. Watts, Melton, and Singletary then walked to the front of the bar and sat with Thomas. *Id.* While Melton introduced Singletary, Watts grabbed Thomas' car keys off of the bar and quickly left through the bar's back door. R. 131, l. 5 - 134, l. 3.

Thomas became suspicious, in part, because he had only days before discovered a Facebook message from Melton to Watts asking her to steal two cell phones from Thomas for him. *Id.*

Thomas regularly acted as a purchasing agent for his longtime employer, L & S Electronics. R. 177, l. 14 - 185, l. 7. At trial, his boss confirmed that Thomas, a trusted employee, was allowed to purchase cell phones using the company's account and sell them as a side-business. *Id.*

Watts returned and quietly set Thomas' car keys down at the bar. R. 132, l. 3 - 133, l. 24. Thomas, flanked on either side by Melton and Singletary, saw Watts tap Melton on the shoulder. Thomas, now concerned that Watts had unlocked his car, watched as Melton left the bar. *Id.* Thomas hastily asked to pay his tab and announced that he was leaving. Watts attempted to delay him by refusing to leave the bar and encouraging him to stay. R. 134, ll. 2-21.

When Thomas reached the parking lot, Melton's truck was gone. Thomas drove to Melton's house. *Id.* He was not home. Thomas then drove to another local bar Melton frequented, the Sportsman. R. 135, l. 12 - 136, l. 15. Melton was not there. Taking advantage of the restaurant's outdoor lighting, Thomas searched his car and realized that a container with a new order of company cell phones and several specialized low-voltage electronics meters were missing along with his work tools. *Id.*

As Melton had no cell phone, Thomas began furiously texting Watts while driving back to The Monkey Business. R. 136, l. 18 - 137, l. 21. With over three thousand dollars-worth of his employers' electronics stolen, Thomas feared his job was in jeopardy. *Id.* When he returned to the bar, Melton's truck was in the parking lot. *Id.*

Thomas looked into Milton's truck for the stolen items, but only saw a rifle lying across the seat. R. 138, ll. 7-24. Thomas, concerned that Melton was likely carrying a knife, took out his pen sized pocket knife and entered the bar. R. 139, l. 2 - 141, l. 21.

Thomas decided to confront Melton about the theft, in the hope that Milton would return the electronics if Thomas made clear how serious the theft was. *Id.* If Melton denied the theft, Thomas

planned to call the police and have them arrest Melton. *Id.* Given Cross's remote location, police response time can be slow. R. 162, l. 25 - 163, l. 3.

Thomas worried that if he allowed Melton to leave the bar after confronting him about the theft, Melton would return with his rifle. *Id.* Thomas entered the restaurant and approached Melton, who was sitting at the bar. Thomas grabbed Melton by the shoulder. Melton reacted by lunging off of his bar stool. In the brief scuffle that ensued, Melton was stabbed with the pocket knife just below his collar bone. *Id.*

Melton separated from Thomas and fled out of the front door of the bar towards the parking lot. R. 145, ll. 3-23. Fearing that Melton was retrieving his rifle, Thomas ran out of the bar through the back door. *Id.* Singletary and Melton left the bar in Melton's truck and called for medical assistance at a nearby gas station. R. 28 ll. 11-24.

Due to Cross's inaccessible location, Melton was taken by helicopter to MUSC. R. 29, ll. 12-23. Curiously, once EMS and the police arrived to treat Melton, Singletary left the gas station in Melton's truck without being interviewed. Melton suffered no injuries to his internal organs. R. 88, l. 1 - 93, l. 3. Melton's wound was closed with stitches and he was released from the hospital the following morning. *Id.* Melton did not undergo any further medical treatment and Dr. Fann, the emergency room doctor, stated that Melton did not experience any permanent or temporary impairment. *Id.*

After running out of the bar's back door, Thomas fell into a large drainage ditch separating the bar from an adjacent trailer park. He suffered a cracked rib and significant bruising. R. 145, l. 3 - 147, l. 10. He lost his cell phone and glasses in the fall. *Id.* Once he realized Melton had left the bar, Thomas returned and spoke briefly with the bartender. *Id.* He then drove home.

The next morning, Thomas emailed his sister, explained the incident and asked her to take him to the hospital for treatment and then to the Sheriff's office. R. 149, l. 13 - 150, l. 21. Shortly after his sister arrived, an Orangeburg County Sheriff's Deputy arrived at his home and placed him under arrest. *Id.* The deputy then took Thomas to the hospital.

### **Trial**

Thomas proceeded to trial on February 17-19, 2015. The State argued that Thomas attacked Melton because Watts was flirting with Melton and she had refused to leave the bar with Thomas. R. 2, l. 8-24. The State entered into evidence a thirty second video pulled from the bar's surveillance cameras.<sup>2</sup>

This low resolution video showed the confrontation between Thomas and Melton. The State claimed that Thomas stormed into the bar and immediately stabbed Melton while his back was to Thomas. The police did not preserve any footage from earlier in the night when Thomas believed that Watts and Melton stole the electronic equipment. R. 16, l. 12 - 17, l. 17.

### *Testimony of William "Bo" Melton*

Melton steadfastly denied that there was any ill feeling between him and Thomas. R. 24, l. 6 - 26, l. 17. Melton denied that he or Singletary left the bar at any time while Thomas was there. R. 40, ll. 2-21.

Melton claimed that Thomas simply charged him without warning or provocation. R. 27, l. 4 - 28, l. 19. As the two began to fight, Melton alleged Thomas threatened him, "he was going to cut me, cut and kill me." R. 26, ll. 2-20. Melton admitted that he was a felon with prior convictions for burglary and misdemeanor assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature. R. 30, ll. 15-21.

---

<sup>2</sup> The video was entered into evidence as State's Exhibit No. 3.

On cross-examination, Melton was asked if he had pawned some items on November 16, 2013 at the Money Man Pawn Shop in Moncks Corner. R. 32, l. 5- 45, l. Tellingly, he gave no response. Over the State's objection, the defense presented several receipts. *Id.* The receipts showed that Melton had pawned three specialized electrical meters, a heater, and power tools; less than two weeks after the incident. R. 303.

Confronted with the receipts, Melton delayed, "I'm looking for my signature." Upon finding his signature, he reluctantly admitted that he had pawned the items. R. 32, l. 21-24., Melton incredulously averred that he owned the items. He explained that he occasionally did maintenance work on a few rental properties, which is why he happened to own three specialty low-voltage electric meters, normally used by commercial electrical contractors. R. 33, l. 1-7.

Melton admitted that he also just so happened to occasionally sell cellular phones as a second side business. R. 33, ll. 8 - 4. Melton adamantly denied owning any firearms, "I'm a convicted felon." R. 38, ll. 3. The defense then produced a second receipt from the same Monck's Corner pawn shop showing that Melton had sold a .270 caliber rifle Remington 700 on January 14, 2014, less than two months after the incident. R. 304.

Melton admitted to pawning the gun, but denied it was his. R. 38, ll. 1-50. He claimed that he had agreed to sell the gun on behalf of a friend who did not have an ID. *Id.* Melton also denied telling nurses at MUSC that he had access to guns. He also denied telling them that he had used methamphetamine or marijuana on the day of the incident. R. 38, l. 21 - 39, l. 7.

Melton denied ever threatening Thomas. R. 42, l. 8 - 46, l. 16. At the conclusion of Melton's cross-examination, he admitted that he was consulting with a lawyer about the case for the purpose of filing a civil suit against the bar.<sup>3</sup> *Id.* at ll. 17-23.

Testimony of Misty Watts

Watts recalled that Thomas quickly finished eating soon after Melton and Singletary arrived at the bar. R. 54, l. 11 - 56, l. 19. Watts testified that when Thomas later returned to the bar, Melton turned around and stood up from his bar stool before the scuffle began. *Id.*

Watts remembered that she had received two text messages from Thomas that night. The first offered to give her a ride home. *Id.* The second message, which Watts seemed to only vaguely recollect, said "something along lines of there will be bloodshed." *Id.*

On cross-examination, Watts confirmed that she and Thomas were not dating and she, in fact, had a boyfriend during the time she lived with Thomas. She admitted that Thomas had allowed her to stay with him rent free after she lost her job. R. 57, ll. 5-17.

Testimony of Debbie Huntley

Debbie Huntley, the bartender on the night of the incident, testified that Watts had initially agreed to leave the bar with Thomas, but that after Melton arrived and spoke with Watts by the juke box; she changed her mind and wanted to stay. R. 66, l. 2 - 67, l. 22.

Huntley testified that Thomas never yelled at Watts or objected to her speaking with Melton. R. 68, ll. 5-25. Huntley stated that when Thomas returned to the bar after paying for his dinner, he

---

<sup>3</sup> On January 21, 2016, Melton was arrested for attempted murder, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and possession of a weapon by a person convicted of a violent felony. Melton is accused of shooting a man in the head during an altercation at the Sportsman Bar. *Game of Pool Ends with Bar Fight, Shooting in Cross; One Person in Jail*, Berkeley County Observer, January 22, 2016, <http://www.berkeleyobserver.com/2016/01/22/bar-fight-in-cross-lands-one-customer-in-jail/>.

looked angry and upset. R. 62, l. 4-25. Huntley remembered Melton turned around and stood up out of his bar stool as Thomas approached him. *Id.*

Huntley recalled that Melton had been drinking, but that Thomas had had at most one beer while eating dinner. She was unsure if Melton was intoxicated, but described him as “gregarious”. R. 69, l. 23 - 71, l. 23. Over the State’s objection, Huntley testified that she believed Melton was a dishonest person. R. 71, l. 7 - 72, l. 13.

She said that Thomas was “a good man. He’s kind to others, very even keel.” R. 73, ll. 2-7. Huntley was also called by the defense and testified that Melton had a reputation for violence generally and, specifically, a reputation for violence against women. R. 174, l. 19 - 175, l. 10.

Huntley’s husband, Joseph, was also at the bar on the night of incident, but could not provide much insight into the confrontation as it “happened real fast.” R. 76, l. 13 - 77, l. 14. Joseph Huntley had known Melton for almost a decade and opined that Melton “has a knack of getting in trouble”. *Id.*

In contrast, Joseph spoke well of Thomas, “I’ve never had a problem with John. I mean, he’s always helped me out. He always been there, you know, You know he even helped [Melton] out because there was an incident where this guy had a chain saw. . .” *Id.* Huntley’s testimony was cut short by an objection from the solicitor. *Id.*

*Testimony of Dr. Steven Austin Fann*

Dr. Fann treated Melton at MUSC. He testified that there were no injuries to Melton’s internal organs. R. 88, l. 1-6. Dr. Fann explained that Melton sustained a two centimeter long puncture wound to the upper corner of his chest. R. 89, ll. 6-24. Dr. Fann had no notes indicating that Melton received stitches or that any anesthesia was administered.

However, there was a note indicating that sutures were removed during a later visit. Dr. Fann further testified that Melton suffered no permanent disfigurement, no protractive loss of function, and no physical impairment as a result of being stabbed. R. 91, l. 17 - 93, l. 3. Melton did not undergo any surgery for his injury. *Id.*

Testimony of Lawrence Brodie

Brodie, the owner of L & S Electronics and Thomas' longtime boss, testified that he allowed Thomas to purchase cell phones on the company's account for resale and that Thomas always reimbursed him for the cost. Vol. II p. 213, l. 14 - 215, l. 18. L & S specialized in low voltage and sound communications including commercial fire alarms and nursing home emergency call systems. *Id.*

Thomas had worked for the company for over a decade; his responsibilities included procuring cell phones for all employees and managing the cost of the company's phone plan. *Id.* Brodie identified an inventory bill from Silmar Electronics showing the purchase of a "LVPRO3" low voltage electronic test meter. R. 180, l. 1 - 184, l. 9; R.\* (Defense Exhibit No.: 6). This is the same model meter that Melton pawned just days after the incident. R. 305.

Brodie explained that this specific meter was a new model and could not be purchased by the general public, "you don't get to buy this unless you're a distributor for that company." R. 181, l. 2-22. Brodie testified that on the day of the incident Thomas had this meter with him. R. 183, l. 2 - 184, l. 17.

Brodie stated that Thomas had shown him several cell phones he had purchased at a sale and was storing in a black and yellow "tote" container in his car. *Id.* Thomas' work tools were in his car as well. *Id.* The next time Brodie saw Thomas' vehicle, it had been completely ransacked. *Id.* After hearing that a pawn shop had this specific model of meter, Brodie called the

distributor to see if any other meters of this model had been sold. R. 182, l. 1- 185, l. 7. The distributor informed him that his company was the only one in the Charleston area to purchase this model. *Id.*

Brodie recalled with obvious frustration that the Moncks Corner police department had refused to help him retrieve the meter because the Berkeley County Sheriff's department was investigating the incident. *Id.* The Berkeley County Sheriff's Office likewise refused to help until Thomas' case had been resolved. *Id.*

Brodie stated that Thomas was an honest person. Thomas had transacted business on his behalf and handled tens of thousands of dollars' worth of money and equipment without incident. R. 184, l. 22 - 185, l. 7.

### **Jury Instructions**

The defense requested jury instructions on, among other points of law: self-defense, the defense of accident, and the law of citizen's arrest. R. 191, l. 18 - 195, l. 9. The defense also requested instructions on the lesser-included charges of assault and battery in the second degree, and assault and battery in the third degree. R. 198, l. 23 - 201, l. 6.

The State opposed these instructions. The State also opposed all lesser-included offense except for assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, and assault and battery in the first degree. *Id.*

### *Defense of Accident and Citizen's Arrest*

The defense argued that a charge on citizen's arrest was warranted because Thomas testified that, had Melton denied the theft, he would have called the police and held Melton until their arrival. R. 191, l. 18 - 195, l. 9. Moreover, Thomas had probable cause to believe that Melton was involved in the theft based on his observations earlier in the night. *Id.*

A charge on the defense of accident was merited because Thomas had testified that he did not intentionally stab Melton, but that he did so accidentally in the course of their scuffle. R. 206, ll. 11-18. Moreover, the defense had presented evidence that the stabbing occurred while Thomas was asserting one or both of two legal rights: attempting a citizen's arrest for grand larceny or acting in self-defense. *Id.*

The trial court refused to charge the law on citizen's arrest, ruling that, at the common law, citizen's arrest required notice to the arrestee that the citizen was making an arrest. R. 204, ll. 1-18. The defense countered that the citizen's arrest is a statutory right and that the statutes did not require notice to the arrestee. R. 204, l. 19 - 209, l. 4; *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-10, -20.

Despite allowing a jury charge on self-defense, the court also refused to instruct the jury on the defense of accident, reasoning that Thomas had failed to prove that he was "acting lawfully" and with reasonable care at the time of the stabbing. *Id.*

#### Lesser-included Offenses

The defense also requested jury instructions on the lesser-included offenses of assault and battery in the second degree, and assault and battery in the third degree as Melton's actual injuries were very minor. R. 198, l. 23 - 201, l. 6. The prosecutor opposed charging on the lesser-included offenses, reasoning that because Melton was stabbed, he suffered great bodily injury. *Id.* The Court agreed with the State:

I thought the definition of moderate bodily injury would be included *except when there's penetration of the skin, muscles, connective tissue that requires surgical repair of a complex nature or when treatment requires the use of regional or general anesthesia, which I thought that's what [Dr. Fann's] testimony was. . . .*

[S]o that would preclude [the defense] from receiving -- even though you may argue it was moderate bodily injury, *the fact that there was the exception that required regional general [sic] anesthesia or*

***regional anesthesia to a muscle or skin or connective tissue, would preclude me from charging under the law.***

R. 199, ll. 6-12 (*emphasis added*).

The State readily acceded to this interpretation, but, when asked by the court, declined to confirm that Dr. Fann testified he had used anesthesia. R. 200, ll. 4-10. Defense counsel countered that he did not recall Dr. Fann stating that he used anesthesia and that, even if he did, the definition of moderate bodily injury included injuries requiring the use of anesthesia. *Id.* at ll. 11-25.

The trial court was unconvinced by the defense's argument and refused to instruct the jury on assault and battery in the second degree, and assault and battery, third degree.

*Inferred Malice PowerPoint Slide*

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