ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
Krista Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-000720

RECEIVED
JUN 29 2016
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

JOHN ARTHUR THOMASAPPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3922

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

300-B California Avenue
Moncks Corner, SC 29461
(843) 723-3800 Ext. 4529

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY

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

In South Carolina, a defendant requesting a jury charge on self-defense, a defendant must show; (1) he was without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) he was in actual imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or actually believed he was in such danger;

(3) if his defense is based upon the belief of imminent danger, then he must show a reasonably prudent person of ordinary courage and firmness would have believed that he was actually in imminent danger and that the circumstances warranted the defendant striking the blow to save himself; and (4) the defendant had no other means of avoiding the danger. State v. Slater, 373 S.C. 66, 69–70, 644 S.E.2d 50, 52 (2007) (emphasis added).

To merit a jury charge of defense of accident, a defendant must show: (1) he was acting lawfully at the time of the incident; (2) the harm he caused was unintentional; and (3) that he exercised due care in handling the weapon. See Commander, 396 S.C. at 271, 721 S.E.2d at 422.

(i) Appellant's Behavior Was Not Lawful

In the instant case, Appellant was not acting lawfully at the time of the stabbing. As noted previously, Appellant's confrontation with Victim was not a valid citizen's arrest pursuant to §§ 17-13-10 to -20. Additionally, the State notes that regardless of the trial judge's decision to charge self-defense, Appellant's actions did not meet the statutory requirements for that charge.¹² In Slater, the Supreme Court of South Carolina found a defendant was not entitled to a self-defense charge because defendant's decision to approach an altercation underway with a loaded weapon by his side was the proximate cause of the ensuing gunfight which led to him "accidentally" shooting the victim. The Court specifically noted the defendant's actions "could be reasonably calculated to bring the difficulty that arose in [that] case."

Here, Appellant approached Victim with the knife in his hands, held out in a threatening manner for the purposes of coercing him into admitting he stole the missing items. Appellant could have "reasonably calculated" that such actions would have caused Victim to resist and

¹² For the reasons explained within this brief, the State contends the trial judge erred in instructing the jury on self-defense. However, because the jury rejected the charge in light of the overwhelming evidence against Appellant, the trial judge's error was clearly harmless and does not require appellate review. However, the State maintains that the erroneous self-defense charge cannot be used to justify an instruction on the law of accident.

attempt escape, as every person threatened with a knife would do. By approaching Victim with a knife, Appellant created the very situation which required him to defend himself. Additionally, Appellant's actions did not constitute a valid self-defense because Appellant had other means of avoiding the danger. Here, Appellant "knew" Victim was the person responsible for stealing the items from his car. Appellant also knew that if he went into the bar to confront Victim that a fight would erupt, and that there was a possibility Victim could arm himself if pressed into said fight. Appellant, knowing Victim was inside the bar and also knowing his name, contact information, and home address, could have and should have contacted the police and avoided the physical confrontation. Because Appellant was not acting not acting lawfully and his actions led to Victim's stabbing, he was not entitled to an accident charge. See State v. Chatman, 336 S.C. 149, 154, 519 S.E.2d 100, 102 (1999) (finding that because a defendant was not acting lawfully pursuant to a need for self-defense, he was not entitled to an accident charge).

(ii) Appellant Failed to Exercise Due Care

The State also notes Appellant failed to exercise due care in handling his knife. Appellant testified he had the knife drawn and extended towards Victim when he approached him. He specifically noted that the knife was out and near Victim as he touched him on the shoulder and got his attention. Such action could have only produced alarm from Victim and put him in a position where, even while trying to escape, he was injured. In fact, Appellant testified that Victim was injured while simply trying to get around him and head for the door. He also admitted that he held his knife out during this time. Here, there is simply no evidence that surprising an unsuspecting person with a drawn knife, and holding it out while they attempt to get around you to safety could ever constitute due care. Therefore, even considering Appellant's version of events, the State disproved Appellant was using due care. The trial court properly

concluded there was a lack of due care as a matter of law and properly refused to charge the jury on accident.

Because no evidence was presented supporting a finding Appellant was acting lawfully, exercising due care, or that the shooting was an accident, and the trial judge properly declined to instruct the jury on the defense of accident. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

D. Harmless Error

Errors are considered to be harmless when they could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (Ct. App. 2003). "It is a rule of practically universal application in appellate procedure that an accused cannot avail himself of error as a ground for reversal where the error has not been prejudicial to him." State v. Hariott, 210 S.C. 290, 298, 42 S.E.2d 285, 288 (1947). When considering whether an error with respect to a jury instruction was harmless, the appellate court must determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict. Middleton, 407 S.C. 312, 317, 755 S.E.2d 432, 435 (2014). In making a harmless error analysis, the inquiry is not what the verdict would have been had the jury been given the correct charge, but whether the erroneous charge contributed to the verdict rendered. Id. Thus, whether or not the error was harmless is a fact-intensive inquiry. Id.

In the instant case, the evidence adduced at trial demonstrates that, notwithstanding any alleged failure to charge citizen's arrest or accident, the only possible conclusion established by the evidence is that Appellant was guilty of attempted murder or ABHAN. The State submits there is no other way to construe the evidence in this case but that Appellant's actions in stabbing the victim were not an accident. A video recording of the entire incident as well as the testimony of several eye witnesses proved Appellant made no attempt to lawfully detain Victim, but instead

walked into Monkey Business with the intent of harming him. Even Appellant admitted that he knew that if he went into Monkey Business, the only result would be a fight between himself and Victim, and that fight could escalate into a situation involving deadly weapons. Despite receiving an improper charge on self-defense, the jury decidedly found Appellant was guilty of ABHAN. Clearly, the jury concluded that Appellant was acting unlawfully at the time of the stabbing. Therefore, any error in failing to charge citizen's arrest or accident was harmless because the erroneous instruction did not contribute to the verdict beyond a reasonable doubt. Middleton, supra; Adams, supra. Appellant's convictions for ABHAN should be affirmed.

III.

The trial court did not commit reversible error in refusing to issue an additional corrective instruction regarding the State's PowerPoint slides which stated that malice can be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon because: (1) the trial judge issued two corrective instructions to the jury; and (2) the jury did not find Appellant guilty of attempted murder, which required a finding of malice, and instead found Appellant guilty of the lesser-included offense of ABHAN.

A. Factual and Procedural History

The Solicitor began his closing statement by stating, "Now, if anything I say doesn't comply with what the [trial] [j]udge tells you later, always defer to the [j]udge. She's the authority on the law." He also discussed the elements of attempted murder, which was accompanied by a PowerPoint presentation with individual slides with brief explanations of each of the State's discussion points. During its specific discussion of malice, the State claimed: "Malice can be inferred from conduct showing a total disregard for human life Malice can be inferred when the act is done with a deadly weapon. A knife sure is a deadly weapon." (R.p.212, lines 6–9; R.p.214, lines 7–11).

During its reply to Counsel's closing arguments, the Solicitor again discussed malice with the jury. This time, the Solicitor said: "Malice can be inferred from conduct showing a total disregard for human life. . . . Malice can also be inferred when the act is done with a deadly weapon. A knife[] [is] a deadly weapon. This is malice. This is what malice is." This statement was accompanied by a PowerPoint slide which similarly read that malice could be inferred from the use of a dangerous weapon. The trial judge asked the Solicitor to take the slide down, and told the jury she would "instruct [it] on the law applicable to th[e] case." The trial judge then held an off the record bench conference, after which the Solicitor continued with his argument. (R.p.209, lines 5–7; R.p.227, line 19–R.p.228, line 16).

During her jury instructions, the trial judge stated:

I . . . have the duty to charge you the law applicable to this case. As the presiding judge, I am the sole judge of the law of this case. It is your duty to accept the law and apply the law exactly as I state it to you now. If you have any idea as to what the law is or what the law ought to be and it does not agree with what I'm about to tell you, you must abandon your own ideas because you are sworn to accept the law and apply the law exactly as I state it to you now.

The trial judge's instructions omitted any reference to the implication of malice from the use of a deadly weapon. (R.p.235, line 24–R.p.236, line 8).

At the conclusion of the trial judge's instructions, Counsel objected on the record to the PowerPoint slide regarding inferred malice from the use of a dangerous weapon, arguing the Solicitor's inferred malice/deadly weapon statement violated State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009), which prohibits such a charge in cases in which evidence is presented which would reduce, mitigate, excuse, or justify the attack. Counsel complained the slide was easily read by the jury, as it was prominently displayed in the PowerPoint presentation. He requested that the trial judge give the jury a curative instruction to remedy the situation, but the trial judge denied the request. She noted no further curative instruction was needed because she had already given a curative instruction to the jury, stating: "[O]nce [she] saw the slide, [she] instructed the jury, and had . . . the slide removed, [and] instructed the jury that [she] would instruct [it] on the law applicable to the case." (R.p.253, line 13–R.p.255, line 1).

B. Analysis

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in refusing to issue a curative instruction in response to the "trial court's" inferred malice/deadly weapon PowerPoint slide which was presented "contemporaneously" with the trial judge's jury charge. The State disagrees with Appellant's allegation of error; Appellant has erroneously characterized the PowerPoint slide as a part of the trial judge's instructions when, in actuality, the slide was only presented during the

Solicitor's reply to Counsel's closing. The trial judge instructed the Solicitor to remove the slide, and gave a curative instruction to the jury.

The appropriate test for reviewing a jury charge involves determining whether there is a reasonable likelihood the jury applied the charge in a way that violated the Constitution. Estelle v. McGuire, 502 U.S. 62, 71 (1991). Ultimately, "[a] trial court's decision regarding jury charges will not be reversed where the charges, as a whole, properly charged the law to be applied." State v. Rye, 375 S.C. 119, 123, 651 S.E.2d 321, 323 (2007); see State v. Ezell, 321 S.C. 421, 425, 468 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 1996) ("A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal.").

In the instant case, the Solicitor mistakenly included the implied malice/deadly weapon slide in his closing. However, the trial judge asked Solicitor to remove the slide, and immediately instructed the jury that she would instruct it on the law applicable to the case. Then, during her jury instructions, the trial judge informed jurors in no uncertain terms she was the sole authority for the law applicable to their deliberations. Moreover, the Solicitor specifically told the jury that if anything he said contradicted the trial judge's instructions, that they should defer to her because she was the sole authority on the law. Accordingly, the trial judge did not err in refusing Counsel's request for an additional curative instruction because she had already made multiple curative instructions to the jury. See Smith, 315 S.C. at 554, 446 S.E.2d at 415 ("Jury instructions should be considered as a whole, and if as a whole they are free from error, any isolated portions which may be misleading do not constitute reversible error.").

C. Harmless Error

Moreover, even if, as Appellant alleges, the Solicitor's PowerPoint slide could somehow be considered part of the trial judge's jury charge, and this Court deems the judge's curative charge was not enough to cure the purported error, any such error was harmless.

"Errors, including erroneous jury instructions, are subject to harmless error analysis." Id. at 611, 685 S.E.2d at 809 (citing Lowry v. State, 376 S.C. 499, 510-11, 657 S.E.2d 760, 766 (2008)). Further, where an erroneous jury charge does not contribute to the jury's verdict, the error is harmless. See State v. Jefferies, 316 S.C. 13, 446 S.E.2d 427 (1994).

In this case, the any error is entirely harmless and could not have contributed to the jury's verdict because the jury found Petitioner acted entirely without malice. The jury did not infer malice from the use of the deadly weapon because it found Petitioner guilty of voluntary ABHAN. The jury found Petitioner guilty of ABHAN; so, it had to find he acted without malice. An erroneous jury instruction indicating malice can be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon can have no prejudicial impact when the jury returns a verdict specifically finding Petitioner acted without malice. See e.g., Tate v. State, 351 S.C. 418, 426, 570 S.E.2d 522, 527 (2002) ("An erroneous malice instruction is harmless if, based on all of the evidence presented to the jury, it did not contribute to the verdict."). Such is the circumstance of this case: Appellant was charged with attempted murder, but the jury found him guilty of the lesser-included offense of ABHAN, the most serious lesser-included charge for the crime which notably does not require that a defendant have malice aforethought

In this case, the error is entirely harmless and could not have contributed to the jury's verdict. The jury found Petitioner guilty of ABHAN; so, it had to find he acted without malice. An erroneous jury instruction indicating malice can be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon

can have no prejudicial impact when the jury returns a verdict specifically finding Petitioner acted without malice. See e.g., Tate v. State, 351 S.C. 418, 426, 570 S.E.2d 522, 527 (2002) ("An erroneous malice instruction is harmless if, based on all of the evidence presented to the jury, it did not contribute to the verdict."). Such is the circumstance in this case, where the defendant was acquitted of a charge requiring a finding of malice and convicted of a crime for which malice is not an element.

Accordingly, while the Solicitor clearly erred by including the inferred malice/deadly weapon slide in his presentation, any error from the mistake is entirely harmless.

CONCLUSION